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Prologue to Statehood
As the year 1844 drew to a close the editor of 

the Davenport Gazette appended the following 
afterthought to his otherwise crisp New Year’s 
greeting:

Oh! Forty-four, in thy small space 
W h a t dire events have taken place!
O f what bright prospects thou hast reft us!
In what a pickle thou hast left us!

A large number of Iowans, particularly those 
with Whig leanings, also looked back with grave 
misgivings on the turbulent times which marked 
that fateful year of 1844. At home a constitu­
tional convention, dominated by Democrats, had 
been held at Iowa City, and the youthful Terri­
tory, paired with Florida, was knocking loudly 
for admission into the Union.

On the national scene a Democrat, James K. 
Polk, brandishing such slogans as 'Annexation of 
Texas’’ and "Fifty-four forty or fight’’, had won a 
spirited presidential campaign against his Whig
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opponent, Henry Clay. That Polk's spirit of 
“Manifest Destiny” was pulsing through the 
veins of many Iowans in 1845 was manifested by 
the many newspaper articles devoted to the Texas 
question, the Oregon boundary dispute, and the 
revolution in California.

Although a giant in area, the Territory of Iowa 
was a mere stripling in population in 1845. Per­
manent white settlement had begun in 1833, but 
only 10,850 square miles out of its nearly 200,000 
square miles had been opened for settlement when 
the Territory was created in 1838. Fully eighty 
per cent of what is now the State of Iowa still be­
longed to the red man, Between 1838 and 1845 
the population rose from 22,859 to about 90,000, 
and the number of counties rose from twenty-one 
to thirty-two. Nine-tenths of the white popula­
tion was concentrated in the twenty-one eastern 
counties, only a spray of pioneers having entered 
the eleven westernmost counties.

Meanwhile, George Wallace Jones advised the 
United States Land Office on October 18, 1845, 
that township lines had been run in all the land 
east of the temporary boundary line established 
by the cession of 1842 or contracts had been made 
for such surveys. Wrih the departure of the Sauk 
and Fox from the land west of this line in 1845, 
only about twenty per cent of the future Hawkeye
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State remained in the hands of the Indians. Jones 
urged an immediate survey of the newly acquired 
area because he believed the “superior quality of 
its soil, the great abundance of water, the more 
equal distribution of prairie and timber, and its 
proximity to the navigation of the Des Moines” 
were all “sure evidences of the unequalled rapid­
ity with which it will settle.” He also urged the 
speedy extinction of the remaining Indian titles 
in Iowa, especially those of the Winnebago in the 
Neutral Ground on the north.

The Mississippi River towns dominated the 
Iowa hinterland in 1845. Dubuque and Burling­
ton were bitter rivals. Davenport, Bloomington 
(Muscatine), Fort Madison, and Keokuk were 
also moving steadily upward in population. Du­
buque had the advantage of her rich lead mines, 
but was handicapped by the cloud which hung 
over her land titles and by the rivalry of nearby 
Galena. Having failed in her attempt to become 
the capital of Iowa, Dubuque aspired to become 
the capital of a new State which would be created 
north of a line drawn westward from the Missis­
sippi between Clinton and Jackson counties.

Iowa City, the capital of the Territory of Iowa, 
was the most important inland town. Mount 
Pleasant was the only town with a college that is 
still flourishing a century later. Keosauqua, at
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the Big Bend of the Des Moines, dominated the 
trade of that thriving river valley, while Fairfield 
could point with pride to the federal land office 
which had been established there in 1842. Mar­
ion, the county seat of Linn County, was a beau­
tiful and flourishing town” of about three hun­
dred inhabitants in 1845. An item quoted in a 
January issue of a Davenport newspaper ex­
pressed “one thousand thanks” to the German 
Emigrant Association for changing the name of 
Prairie La Porte in Clayton County to Gutten- 
berg, in honor of the inventor of printing. In 
August the county commissioners gave the name 
"Marengo” to the prospective seat of justice of 
Iowa County.

A resident of "Ouscaloosa” asserted that his 
town had grown beyond all reasonable expecta­
tion. "W e have already fifty houses erected — 
eight or ten of which are of a neat and substantial 
character. W e have also four full stores, two 
groceries, four Blacksmith shops, four House Car­
penters, three Cabinet makers, one Painter, one 
Plasterer, two Hotels, six Lawyers, three Physi­
cians, one cooper, two Ministers of the Gospel. 
One hundred and fifty town lots have already 
been sold — principally to actual settlers who 
have already commenced or intend shortly to im­
prove them. Our country also continues to im-
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prove with unparallelled rapidity.” There were 
other towns, many plotted, highly advertised, and 
with post offices, that were destined to wither and 
fall by the wayside.

Two men served as Governor of the Territory 
of Iowa in 1845. An amiable Kentucky Whig, 
John Chambers, served as chief executive until 
November, when James Clarke of Burlington was 
appointed Governor by President Polk. A Dem­
ocrat, and founder of the Wisconsin Territorial 
Gazette and Burlington Advertiser in 1836, 
Clarke had served as Secretary of the Territory, 
mayor of Burlington, and a delegate to the consti­
tutional convention of 1844. Although born in 
Pennsylvania, he had been a resident of Iowa- 
land for nine years and was, therefore, the first 
“Iowan” to be appointed Governor of the Terri­
tory. Samuel J. Burr was Secretary of the Ter­
ritory of Iowa.

Two sessions of the Legislative Assembly were 
held in Iowa City in 1845. The Seventh Legisla­
tive Assembly convened on May 5th. S. C. Hast­
ings was named President of the Council while 
J. M. Morgan served as Speaker of the House. 
Sixty-nine special acts and eighteen joint resolu­
tions were passed before adjournment on June 
11th.

The main problem confronting this Assembly
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arose out of the rejection of statehood by the peo­
ple in the April election, largely because Congress 
had substituted the Nicollet boundaries for the 
Lucas boundaries. Governor Chambers recom­
mended that a new constitutional convention be 
called but the Democratic legislature chose to re­
submit the constitution of 1844 to the people, pass­
ing the bill over the veto of the Governor. This 
bill called for a viva voce vote at the general elec­
tion in August, 1845, and, after bitter debate in 
the press and on the stump, statehood was re­
jected a second time.

The Seventh Legislative Assembly passed the 
usual amount of legislation on roads and ferries, 
legal procedure, and the reimbursement of citi­
zens. Many special acts were also passed. The 
City of Burlington was granted a new charter and 
Iowa City University was incorporated. The 
counties of Iowa, Kishkekosh, and Marion were 
organized and the seat of justice of Lee County 
was re-located. After bitter partisan debate the 
charter of the Miners’ Bank of Dubuque was re­
pealed. An act to “organize and discipline“ the 
militia was approved, special steamboat legisla­
tion was adopted, and an act was also passed to 
encourage the destruction of wolves.

When the Eighth Legislative Assembly met 
the following December, the Council chose Ste­
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phen Hempstead as its presiding officer while 
George W . McCleary was named Speaker of the 
House. Jesse Williams held the position of Sec­
retary of the Territory. In his first annual mes­
sage on December 3rd, Governor Clarke deplored 
the rejection of the constitution at the August elec­
tion but left it with the legislators to determine 
what course to pursue. Acting upon this advice 
the Assembly passed a measure calling for the 
election of thirty-two delegates to a constitutional 
convention which was to meet in the Stone Capi­
tol at Iowa City on the first Monday in May, 
1846. A single measure provided for the estab­
lishment and definition of twelve new counties — 
Boone, Clarke, Dallas, Decatur, Jasper, Lucas, 
Madison, Marshall, Polk, Story, Warren, and 
Wayne.

While these two sessions of the Legislative As­
sembly were busy in Iowa City, the Territory of 
Iowa was represented in Washington by Augus­
tus Caesar Dodge — the efficient, hard-working 
Delegate to Congress. Some idea of the needs 
of the Territory of Iowa a century ago may be 
gleaned from a Ax/ 2 column letter addressed by 
Dodge to the “People of Iowa” and published in 
the Iowa Capital Reporter of July 9, 1845. This 
letter was precipitated by the fact that Dodge's 
name had been posted for réélection by the Demo­
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crats and he wished to offset his earlier blunder 
in urging his constituents to accept the smaller 
Nicollet boundaries. Dodge now threw his 
whole-hearted support behind the larger boun­
daries which would include the Missouri River 
on the west.

Delegate Dodge presented a strong case for 
his reelection. He had secured $18,000 for the 
Military Road running from Dubuque, through 
Iowa City, to the Missouri boundary. He had 
secured $10,000 for a similar road between Bur­
lington and the Sauk and Fox Agency in W a­
pello County. Another $5000 had been appropri­
ated by Congress for the road from Bloomington 
(Muscatine) to Iowa City. Because steamboats 
needed easy access to Iowa’s bustling lead entre­
pot, an appropriation of $14,500 had been secured 
for the Dubuque harbor. He had $5000 set aside 
for the purpose of making an Indian treaty 
whereby the Winnebago could be removed from 
the Neutral Ground to a new home in Minnesota. 
Under Dodge’s guidance new post offices and 
post roads had been established. Finally, he had 
secured $4000 for the final and peaceable settle­
ment of the Missouri boundary question, which 
was causing bitter comment in Iowa and Missouri.

Although Iowans were intensely interested in 
local, Territorial, and national politics, their main
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efforts were expended in making a living. The 
newspapers afford the best source of information 
as to the fortunes and misfortunes of the pioneers 
a century ago. Eleven newspapers were pub­
lished in eight different towns during the course 
of the year 1845. The Miners Express and the 
Iowa Transcript were published at Dubuque, the 
Iowa Territorial Gazette and Burlington Adver­
tiser and the Burlington Hawk-Eye were printed 
at Burlington, and the Iowa Standard and the 
Iowa Capital Reporter were issued weekly at 
Iowa City. The Davenport Gazette, the Bloom­
ington Herald, the Lee County Democrat of Fort 
Madison, and the Iowa Morning Star and Keo­
kuk Commercial Advertiser at Keokuk attest the 
supremacy of Mississippi River towns in Iowa 
journalism at that time.

Aside from the capital of the Territory, Keo- 
sauqua was the only inland town to support a 
paper — the Iowa Democrat and Des Moines 
River Intelligencer being printed there. Keokuk's 
lone newspaper, the Iowa Morning Star, was es­
tablished on April 24, 1845, but unfortunately it 
was forced to discontinue within a few weeks. 
One of the Dubuque papers, the Iowa Transcript, 
suspended publication in September of 1845. 
Only nine newspapers were being published at 
the close of 1845.



362 THE PALIMPSEST

The weather elicited considerable comment in 
newspaper and in private journals. Theodore S. 
Parvin recorded a light winter, the Mississippi 
closing on December 27th, 1844, and opening 
February 18th, 1845. According to Parvin: 
“The spring of 1845 was early. The summer long, 
with July hot. September and October warm. 
Frost the 12th of October. Winter set in Novem­
ber 23. December cold. Down to zero ten 
days.”

Although delighted with the “beautiful and 
pleasant” spring, an Iowa City editor complained 
on April 12th that the wheat crop had suffered 
from dry weather and that grasses and vegeta­
bles had also been retarded. On July 9th, how­
ever, after reading of adverse crop conditions in 
Virginia, Ohio, Indiana, and Michigan, this same 
editor declared: “It must be truly cheering to the 
people of Iowa, that while there is such a failure of 
the crops elsewhere, their own have not only sur­
vived the frosts and droughts in the early part of 
the season, but yield most abundantly. . . . Har­
vesting has already been progressing some time. 
W e were in Burlington two weeks ago today, 
where we saw a lot of new wheat brought in by 
a sturdy Hawkeye farmer. The berry of this lot 
was extremely large, and we think it about as fine 
a specimen as we ever saw. In every portion of
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Iowa, nature is scattering her gifts from her well 
filled cornucopia, with a liberal and profuse hand; 
and the husbandman has promise of a rich return 
for his labor. Grass, corn, oats, also, look ex­
tremely well, so that both man and beast may re­
joice in the prospect that the ingathering summer 
and autumn will result in bountiful supplies for 
the ensuing winter/’

It was not merely the smaller grains that flour­
ished. On September 10, 1845, the Iowa Capital 
Reporter declared that the Hawkeye State was 
destined to become one of the ‘ finest fruit coun­
tries in the world.” Fruits of a "superior” qual­
ity were already appearing on Iowa City markets, 
the peaches being the finest flavored the editor 
had ever tasted. A week later this same editor 
declared the Iowa City market was so “glutted” 
with peaches that one farmer “talked seriously” 
of continuing on to Marion. “This fact”, the ed­
itor concluded, “will be apt to try the credulity of 
many good people in the old states, who have been 
in the habit of regarding Iowa as a hundred miles 
or so west of sundown, and almost beyond the 
bounds of civilization. And considering that the 
settlement of the territory, especially in this cen­
tral portion, has nearly all been made within five 
or six years, it is, indeed, a fact worth recording.” 

Editors were quick to urge their readers to go
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in for every thing that would enhance their land. 
When the editor of the Davenport Gazette 
learned that a Maine farmer had raised cranberries 
in a bog he suggested that Iowa farmers try the 
same experiment in a piece of wet, marshy land. 
The editor of the Iowa Capital Reporter, noticing 
the lack of orchards in Linn County, urged prompt 
action to remedy the situation.

Although the agriculturist predominated in 
Iowa thinking, the professional man, the trades­
man, and the shopkeeper were present in num­
bers. The previous year nine lawyers, five phys­
icians, three merchants, two mechanics, two min­
ers, two millwrights, a miller, a printer, and an 
engineer had been delegates to the constitutional 
convention. Lawyers were probably too numer­
ous, at least the Dubuque Transcript was happy 
to chronicle an exodus of lawyers in 1845. Accord­
ing to the Transcript: “This change is indicated 
by the fact that while some of our lawyers are 
leaving the city, others are mining, and some more 
(it is said) must soon do one or the other, or 
starve. Some of the greatest legal men in Iowa 
history were practicing in 1845. Charles Mason, 
Joseph Williams, and Thomas S. Wilson were 
serving on the Supreme Court of the Territory of 
Iowa. Three men who were destined to become 
Governors of Iowa were practicing law in 1845:
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R. P. Lowe of Muscatine, J. W. Grimes of 
Burlington, and Stephen Hempstead of Dubuque.

Physicians, prepared to practice "medicine and 
surgery" and well-stocked with fresh supplies of 
medicine, offered their professional services 
through the columns of the press. Apparently 
there was a real need for them, since Governor 
Clarke expressed genuine concern over the gen­
eral health situation in his first annual message.
The people of Iowa have suffered severely from 

sickness the past season; nor is it any consolation 
to them to know that their fellow citizens in all 
the western States have been similarly visited, ex­
cept so far as it establishes the fact that there is 
nothing in our soil or climate peculiarly favorable 
to disease." Five years later the Governor him­
self was to follow his wife and a son to the grave 
— all victims of the cholera scourge.

The Good Samaritan Drug Store at Burlington 
had on sale Peters’ Pills, Gauby’s Compound Lo­
tion for Tetter, Ringworm, and Itch, Wright’s 
Indian Vegetable Pills, and Dr. Osgood’s Indian 
Chologogue for the cure of "Fever and Ague, 
Dumb Ague, Liver complaint, Ague Cake, and 
all the various forms of bilious diseases." B. San­
ford, "Druggist and Grocer", offered Davenport 
physicians and families favorable to the "Botanic 
System of Medicine" almost every article used in
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their practice. Bartholomew s Pink Expectorant 
Syrup was offered as a sure cure for Consump­
tion” and all other pulmonary diseases. Iowans 
too “stubborn” to believe that the Indian Vege­
table Elixir and Liniment was a certain cure for 
rheumatism were assured by Mr. Sanford that 
they, and not he, would be the sufferers. With 
such aids the future health of Iowans must have 
seemed secure.

The specialized tradesman was present in Iowa 
a century ago. S. Schoolfield manufactured such 
things as cabinets, chairs, bedsteads, bureaus, 
dining tables, and workstands at Davenport. 
David Miller made boots and shoes in the “best 
manner and latest style” in the same town. At 
Burlington, Lantz & Ray made French Burr Mill­
stones to order. Iowa City took genuine pride in 
D. Cox, tin and sheet iron manufacturer. Baker­
ies and confectioners were also flourishing. Cook 
and Walter were traveling through the Territory 
of Iowa late in 1845 taking ‘ Daguerreotype Like­
nesses” of Iowans.

The pioneers of 1845 were especially alert to 
improved forms of transportation and communi­
cation. Within the Territory itself they urged 
better roads and faster and more certain mail com­
munications. They rejoiced at the prospects of 
steamboats navigating the Cedar, the Iowa, and
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the Des Moines rivers. Iowa Citians swelled 
with pride when a steamboat built to run on the 
Iowa River was launched by Messrs. Robbins & 
Hubbell at their boatyard in the infant capital. 
The engine was a new invention by Mr. Robbins 
and it was believed that it would supersede all 
others then in use on western waters.

Traffic on the Upper Mississippi was steadily 
increasing: in 1844 there had been 610 steamboat 
arrivals by 34 different boats at Bloomington 
compared with 339 arrivals by 35 boats five years 
previously. Inland towns took as much interest 
in the opening and closing of navigation as did 
port cities. The spread of the telegraph was 
chronicled and hope expressed that it would soon 
reach Iowa. The westward trend of railroad con­
struction was watched with optimism. And why 
not? Did not Asa Whitney, famed father of the 
Trans-Continental Railroad, make a survey for 
such a venture through northern Iowa in 1845?

Even the speed with which steamships such as 
the Cambria, the Great Western, the Hibernia, 
the Acadia, and the Great Britain crossed the At­
lantic was spotlight news in an era when people 
hungered for information from the outside world. 
The steamship, the steamboat, the telegraph, and 
the railroad, promised Iowa editors the best facili­
ties for giving their readers the latest news. The
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first two were in common use in 1845, the tele­
graph was destined to reach Iowa in 1848, and 
the railroad was to tap the Mississippi opposite 
Iowa at four points in 1855.

The cultural and spiritual needs of the people 
were also taking form a century ago. Many pri­
vate schools were in operation in the larger towns. 
W . K. Talbott offered courses in reading, alge­
bra, arithmetic, geography, and surveying at the 
Iowa City Institute. James Macintosh was chair­
man of the Mechanics’ Academy at Iowa City. 
The Methodists were sponsoring Iowa City Col­
lege. An entirely different institution, Iowa City 
University, was incorporated by the Legislative 
Assembly on June 2, 1845. St. Mary’s Female 
Academy was under the patronage of Bishop 
Loras at Dubuque. Davenport contained sev­
eral excellent schools although the Gazette 
yielded the palm to Iowa City in matters of edu­
cation. The following December the Eighth Leg­
islative Assembly went to work on bills to estab­
lish academies at Danville and Maquoketa.

The circuit rider and the revival were common. 
On June 25, 1845, the Iowa Capital Reporter an­
nounced a “Camp Meeting“ at the “old camp 
ground in the vicinity of Iowa City, and near the 
residence of the Rev. Jas. L. Thompson”. The 
larger towns supported many congregations. The
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Iowa Transcript at Dubuque chronicled the ac­
cession of a large number of ministers of the Gos­
pel, there being six Protestant clergymen in that 
community early in 1845. Iowa City counted six 
“beautiful’' church edifices — five of brick and 
one of stone.

Although laboring hard and long in their fields, 
their offices, or at their workbenches, the Iowa pi­
oneers still found time for schools and churches, 
as well as local, township, county, and Territorial 
affairs. Some identified themselves with the tem­
perance movement; others gave their support to 
the abolitionist crusade. At their lyceums they 
heard these burning issues debated by their lead­
ers and were not adverse to joining in the discus­
sion. The difficulties encountered in building 
roads and bridges were offset in part by the pleas­
ure of hunting and fishing. Wild game could 
often be shot from the cabin doors. Fortunately, 
the pioneers of 1845 were endowed with courage, 
perseverance, and Yankee ingenuity, qualities 
which could not brook defeat. They were des­
tined to prove their capacity, for statehood loomed 
large in the “Year of Decision” just ahead.

W i l l i a m  J. P e t e r s e n


